NO. 44508-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CAROLYN A. GIGER, APPELLANT/PLAINTIFF

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES, RESPONDENT/DEFENDANT.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BUSICK HAMRICK, PLLC STEVEN L. BUSICK Attorneys for Appellant/Plaintiff

By Steven L. Busick, WSBA #1643 Busick Hamrick, PLLC PO Box 1385 Vancouver, WA 98666 360-696-0228

Assignment of Error

The trial court erred in entering the Order, Judgment and Decree dated, January 23, 2013, granting summary judgment in favor of the Department of Labor and Industries

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- No. 1. Was the industrial injury of December 24, 1985, a proximate cause of Robert Giger's retirement from the Department of Corrections on April 1, 1988?
- No. 2. Was it reasonable under the circumstances that Robert Giger not attempt to return to work between September 4, 1992, and February 14, 1994?

Statement of the Case

Robert Giger, born April 20, 1936, commenced working for the Department of Corrections, State of Washington, on August 17, 1957. In 1959, Mr. Giger was working as a correction office at the state penitentiary in Walla Walla, when he was assaulted by an inmate and suffered a low back injury. He filed a worker compensation claim, and in January 1960, underwent a laminectomy and fusion at L5-S1. He then returned to work for the Department of Corrections in January 1961. The first year or two after the injury his low back bothered him periodically, but as time went on his condition improved. (Certified Appeal Board Record, R. Giger - Direct, November 5, 2010, page 8, line 23; page 9, lines 14, 16, 20 and 26; page 10, lines 8, 10 and 18; and Cross, page 69, lines 3, 5 and 9).

Then on July 1, 1978, Mr. Giger was transferred to Larch Corrections Center, a minimum security facility in Clark County, Washington, as Superintendent. On Christmas Eve, 1985, Mr. Giger received a call at home that two inmates had escaped from the Correction Center. Mr. Giger drove to a remote location in Clark County, where the inmates were likely to head, to set up a post. As he stepped from his service vehicle, he slipped on compacted snow and ice, twisted his back, and fell to

the ground. Mr. Giger was off work for four to six weeks, went back to work full time, continued to have problems with his low back, and last worked in late April 1987. (CABR, R. Giger – Direct, page 9, lines 6, 8, 10 and 12; page 15, line 26; page 16, line 3; and page 18, line 14).

On March 1, 1988, Mr. Giger had a second low back surgery, consisting of a Steffee plate fusion at L4-5 with pedicle screws. Mr. Giger could not continue working at the Department of Corrections with his low back condition, and retired on April 1, 1988, with over 30 years of service. At the time of his retirement, Mr. Giger also suffered from high blood pressure, or hypertension, which had been first diagnosed in 1984. Prior to December 24, 1985, Mr. Giger's hypertension was controlled by medication, but, after the injury with the pain he was experiencing, his blood pressure skyrocketed. Mr. Giger had also been diagnosed with angina, and the stress of the industrial injury and managing his pain aggravated his angina. (CABR, R. Giger - Direct, page 17, lines 5, 8, 19, 23 and 25; page 18, lines 14, 17 and 24; page 19, line 14, page 21, line 7; page 22, lines 14, 16 and 18; page 23, lines 17 and 19; and page 24, line 5).

After Mr. Giger retired from the Department of Corrections, the Department of Labor and Industries assigned a vocational counselor, Connie Stewart, who at the time was employed by the Department, to determine

whether Mr. Giger was employable. Ms. Stewart knew that Mr. Giger had retired on April 1, 1988, and learned that there were no jobs available to Mr. Giger at the Department of Corrections. Ms. Stewart learned that Mr. Giger wanted to pursue a career in real estate to supplement his retirement income, which was \$2,800 per month. Ms. Stewart was also aware that Mr. Giger's hypertension prevented him from returning to a high stress or pressure job. Ms. Stewart found that Mr. Giger had transferable skills to do other work and be gainfully employed should he choose to do that. (CABR, Stewart - Direct, January 10, 2011, page 4, line 24; page 6, line 20; page 8, line 14; page 16, line 25; page 17, line 21; page 20, line 12; and page 32, line 12).

Though the Department of Labor and Industries knew that Mr. Giger had retired on April 1, 1988, they continued to pay him time loss benefits as a temporarily totally disabled worker through October 15, 1990. When the Department of Labor and Industries then closed his claim on November 8, 1990, and found Mr. Giger able to work, Mr. Giger appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, and then to Superior Court for Clark County. The appeal to Superior Court was decided by jury verdict against Mr. Giger, and on September 4, 1992, the Court affirmed the decision of the Board. (CABR, Page 90).

Then on November 12, 1992, Mr. Giger was involved in a motor vehicle accident, when his car was struck from the rear while stopped for a traffic light by a drunk driver. Mr. Giger received a compression fracture to his neck and treated with Dr. Bruce Bell, a neurologist, in Vancouver, Washington. Again on February 9, 1993, Mr. Giger's vehicle was struck from the rear by another vehicle when traffic slowed on a freeway on-ramp. The impact aggravated Mr. Giger's compression fracture and he continued treatment with Dr. Bell. (CABR, pages 89-90; R. Giger - Direct, page 28, line 15; page 29, lines 3, 7 and 14; and page 30, line 12).

On December 8, 1993, Dr. Bell saw Mr. Giger back. He had been improving from the injuries he received in the motor vehicle accidents, and, about a week prior to the visit, he had an aggravation of his low back condition from the industrial injury of December 24, 1985. His low back had locked up, and he had hardly any movement in his back. He had pain running down both legs. On physical examination, Dr. Bell found a significant amount of spasm in his low back, severe scoliosis bending to the left, and a positive straight by raise of 10 degrees bilaterally. Dr. Bell saw him back on December 29, 1993, and January 12, 1994, and Mr. Giger's low back symptoms were getting worse. On February 9, 1994, when Dr. Bell saw Mr. Giger again, an application to reopen claim for aggravation was

completed, and the reopening application was received by the Department of Labor and Industries on February 14, 1994. (CABR, Dr. Bell – Direct, November 30, 2010, page 63, lines 10, 12, 16, 23 and 25; page 64, lines 14 and 16; page 65, lines 21 and 23; and page 67, lines 12 and 17).

On January 25, 1995, Mr. Giger's claim was reopened by the Department of Labor and Industries for medical treatment only on the basis that the aggravation application was not received within seven years of initial claim closure. That issue was eventually decided in Superior Court for Clark County by summary judgment on June 26, 2009, favorable to Mr. Giger, after a long and protracted series of protests and appeals, and he could receive benefits other than treatment effective February 14, 1994. (CABR, pages 90-94).

While the claim was reopened for treatment, Mr. Giger had the Steffee plates and pedicle screws removed by Dr. Michael Markham, a neurosurgeon, on March 17, 1995. The Steffee plates that had been used in the fusion at L4-5 on March 1, 1988, had come apart, and x-rays showed that a nut on one of the pedicle screws did not have a lock nut on it. The nut had come off the pedicle screw causing the Steffee plate to move up and down. Mr. Giger then had improvement for six months before his condition worsened again, and Dr. Markham had x-rays taken that determined that the

fusion itself had come apart. Mr. Giger then saw Dr. Timothy Keenan, a spine surgeon, who on November 5, 1997, re-fused the L4-5 level and extended the rods to L3-4, resulting now in a three level fusion. Following the third fusion, Mr. Giger has had a slow and difficult recovery, and has had 40-50 epidural steroid injections over the years. (CABR, R. Giger - Direct, page 32, line 1; page 34, lines 8, 10, 12 and 18; page 36, lines 7 and 21; page 37, line 1; and page 38, line 2).

Timothy Keenan, MD, a Board certified orthopedist, with a fellowship in spine surgery, reviewed the operative report of Michael Markham, MD, dated March 17, 1995. Dr. Markham was now deceased. One of the lock screws had come off and was located in the soft tissue. Reviewing the CT scan of November 20, 1996, Dr. Keenan found that the facet joints were over grown and not completely fused. The condition is called psuedoarthritis, and was related to the 1988 surgery not healing. (CABR, Dr. Keenan - Direct, November 16, 2010, page 5, line 17; page 7, line 10; page 11, line 10; page 13, lines 4, 9, 13 and 15; page 14, line 9; page 15, line 3; and page 16, line 6).

All of the doctors who testified on behalf of Mr. Giger: Bruce Bell, MD, John Kauser, MD, Timothy Keenan, MD, and Maury Hafermann, MD, established that Mr. Giger was temporarily totally disabled as proximately caused by the industrial injury of December 24, 1985, from February 14, 1994, through June 9, 2010. Their testimony also established that at least by June 9, 2010, Mr. Giger was permanently totally disabled. (CABR, Dr. Bell - Direct, November 30, 2010, page 77, lines 12 and 16; and page 78, line 7; Dr. Kaiser - Direct, November 30, 2010, page 35, line 16; and page 36, line 23; Dr. Keenan - Direct, November 16, 2010, page 29, line 9; and Dr. Hafermann - Direct, November 5, 2010, page 122, lines 15 and 19; and page 123, line 8). What is in dispute is since Mr. Giger did not attempt to return to work after he was found employable as of November 8, 1990, whether he should be denied time loss and pension benefits on his reopening application.

Mr. Giger had appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals the order of the Department of Labor and Industries dated June 25, 2010, affirming the orders dated June 8, 2010, and June 9, 2010. The June 8, 2010, Department order denied time loss benefits from February 14, 1994, through June 4, 2010, on the basis that he voluntarily retired from employment on April 1, 1988. The June 9, 2010, Department order closed the claim for treatment without awarding pension benefits. (CABR, pages 77-79 and page 95).

Mr. Giger's appeal to the Board proceeded to a full evidentiary hearing before an Industrial Appeals Judge. The issue presented for hearing was whether the December 24, 1985, industrial injury was a proximate cause of Mr. Giger's retirement from the Department of Corrections on April 1, 1988. On September 19, 2011, the Industrial Appeals Judge issued his 34 page Proposed Decision and Order deciding the issue favorable to Mr. Giger. The Proposed Decision and Order awarded temporary total disability from February 14, 1994, and permanent total disability as of June 25, 2010. (CABR, pages 41-74).

The Department of Labor and Industries then petitioned for review to the Board and Mr. Giger responded. (CABR, pages 41-74). On January 25, 2010, two of the three Board members, the third not participating, reversed the Industrial Appeals Judge. The Decision and Order determined that since Mr. Giger had not attempted to return to work following the order of November 8, 1990, that he could not recover further time loss or pension benefits. Since he had not attempted to return to work before filing his reopening application on February 14, 1994, he was foreclosed from further benefits. (CABR, pages 2-35).

Mr. Giger then appealed the Board's Decision and Order to Superior Court for Clark County. The Department filed a Motion for Summary Judgment to which Mr. Giger responded. The motion was argued to the Court on September 14, 2012. Robert Giger died on December 4, 2012, and on January 15, 2013, an order was entered substituting Carolyn Giger as the plaintiff in the action. On January 23, 2013, an Order, Judgment and Decree was entered granting summary judgment for the Department affirming the Board's decision. On February 7, 2013, Mrs. Giger filed her appeal to the Court of Appeals, Division II, in Superior Court. (Clerk's Papers Nos. 2, 20, 38 and 61).

Argument

A. Summary Judgment

The appellate court reviews a summary judgment order *de novo*, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Elcon Constr.*, *Inc.*, *v*. *E. Wash. Univ.*, 174 Wn.2d 157, 164, 273 P.3d 965 (2012)., Summary judgment is appropriate where, viewing all facts and resulting inferences

most favorable to the nonmoving party, there is no genuine issue of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Briggs* v. *Nova Servs.*, 166 Wn. App. 20 794, 801, 213 P.3d 910 (2009).

A genuine issue of material fact exists where reasonable minds could differ on the facts controlling the outcome of litigation, *Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce County*, 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.3d 886 (2008). The moving party bears the burden of demonstrating that there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Fitzpatrick v. Okonogan County*, 169 Wn.2d 598, 605, 283 P.3d 1129 (2010). See *Orris v. Lingley*, 172 Wn. App. 61, 65, P. 3d (2012).

Mrs. Giger maintains that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether her husband retired as a proximate cause of the industrial injury, and whether a reasonable person in the position of Mr. Giger would have attempted to return to work after his claim was closed.

In 1986, RCW 51.32.060, Permanent Total Disability, was amended to add a new paragraph (6), which provides:

In the case of new or reopened claims, if the supervisor of industrial insurance determines that, at the time of filing or reopening, the worker is voluntarily retired and is no longer attached to the workforce, benefits shall not be paid under this section.

At the same time RCW 51.32.090, Temporary Total Disability, was amended to add a new paragraph (8), which provides:

If the supervisor of industrial insurance determines the worker is voluntarily retired and no longer attached to the workforce, benefits will not be paid under this section.

In the same year, Washington Administration Code 296-14-100 was enacted to define what voluntary retirement means under RCW 51.32.060 and 51.32.090. Paragraph (3) provides:

The claimants of new or reopened claims will not be deemed voluntarily retired if the injury or occupational disease was a proximate cause of the decision to retire and sever the attachment to the workforce.

Here, the reopening application was filed on February 14, 1994, after the effective date of the statutory amendments and regulation, and they would apply to govern the issues on this appeal.

Kaiser Aluminum v. Overdorf, 57 Wn. App. 291, 295, 789 P.2d 8 (1990), and Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Farr, 70 Wn. App. 759, 763, 885 P.2d 711 (1993), establish that the law of voluntary retirement was essentially the same prior to the enactment of RCW 51.32.060 (6) and RCW 51.32.090 (8). If an injured worker has previously voluntarily retired from the workforce prior to the aggravation of an industrial injury or occupational disease, he or she is not entitled to temporary total disability or permanent total disability. Mrs. Giger does not disagree, but the issue remains whether Mr. Giger

voluntarily retired from the workforce, or did he retire as a proximate cause of the industrial injury, which is a question of fact.

In *Energy NW. v. Hartje*, 148 Wn. App. 454, 468, 199 P.3d 1043 (2009), Ms. Hartje argued that she was not voluntarily retired because she was not able to return to the workforce due to her industrial injury. Division III at page 469 held that Ms. Hartje must show that her retirement would not have resulted if her industrial injury had not occurred, and she failed to do so. But then in the next paragraph, Division III states that because it was previously determined that Ms. Hartje was capable of gainful employment when her case was previously closed, her industrial injury was not a proximate cause of her failure to return to the workforce. This is what Division III calls the law of the case doctrine, that is somehow different than *res judicata*, which they earlier denied application.

Essentially, the law of the case doctrine is the same as res judicata. White v. Department of Labor & Indus., 48 Wn.2d 413, 414, 293 P.2d 764 (1956), known as the Jesse White decision, holds that an order of the Department of Labor and Industries closing the claim of an injured worker is res judicata as to the extent of the injury at that time, but is not res judicata as to a subsequent period of aggravation. Jesse White has been applied to significant decisions of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals.

In re Leona McClenaghan, BIIA Dec., 24, 922 (1967). In re Mary Burbank, BIIA Dec., 30, 673 (1969), and In re Lisa Smith, BIIA Dec., 86, 1152 (1988). Here, the order of the Department of Labor and Industries dated November 8, 1990, that awarded permanent partial disability, time loss as paid, and closed the claim, was not res judicata as to the period of aggravation commencing February 14, 1994.

Since RCW 51.32.060 (6) references new or reopened claims at the time of filing or reopening the claim, the determination would be made here as of February 14, 1994, when the reopening application was filed. If Mr. Giger had retired as a proximate cause of the industrial injury on December 24, 1985, his retirement would not be voluntary, and he would be able to recover time loss benefits and a pension. The question of fact remains, was the industrial injury a proximate cause of his retirement. RCW 51.32.060 (6) and RCW 51.32.090 (8) do not state any retirement, only voluntary retirement disqualifies an injured worker from those benefits on a claim reopening for aggravation.

In light of *Energy NW. v. Hartje*, 148 Wn. App. at page 469, there is a second issue of fact presented by this case. Since Mr. Giger did not attempt to return to work following November 8, 1990, when his claim was closed, was it reasonable that he not attempt to do so. Mr. Giger appealed

the determination that he was able to work as of November 8, 1990, to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals and to Superior Court. Since the issue was not resolved until September 4, 1992, when the Judgment and Decree was entered in Superior Court, Mr. Giger would have negated his appeal had he attempted to return to work during the interim. He would have disqualified himself as a temporarily totally disabled worker pursuant to RCW 51.32.090, and could not receive time loss benefits. Since Mr. Giger was pursuing his right to appeal pursuant to RCW 51.52.060 and RCW 51.52.110, he could not jeopardize that right.

A question of fact remains as to whether it was reasonable that Mr. Giger not attempt to return to work between September 4, 1992, and February 14, 1994. Mr. Giger was involved in the motor vehicle accident of November 12, 1992, in which he received a compression fracture of the neck, which was aggravated by the second motor vehicle accident on February 9, 1993. Then two weeks before December 8, 1993, when he again saw Dr. Bell, he had aggravated his low back condition from the industrial injury of December 24, 1985, when his back locked up and he could hardly move. His accepted low back condition declined from there. On March 17, 1995, Dr. Michael Markham removed the Steffee plates and pedicle screws from the March 1, 1988, fusion at L4-5. At that time it was discovered that

one of the pedicle screws did not have a lock nut on it, allowing the nut to come off the pedicle screw and the Steffee plate to move up and down. Then the CT scan of November 20, 1996, revealed that the fusion itself had failed, and on November 5, 1997, Dr. Timothy Keenan re-fused L4-5 along with L3-4.

Since the fusion for the industrial injury had failed, there is a completely different light cast on this case. The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals determines which of their Decisions are significant and makes them available to the public pursuant to RCW 51.52.160. Those decisions are nonbinding, but persuasive authority on appeals. While the Board interpretation of the Industrial Insurance Act is not binding on the appellate court, they are entitled to great difference. *Dept. of Labor & Indus., v. Shirley,* 171 Wn. App. 870, 887, P.3d (2012), O'Keefe v. Dept. of Labor & Indus., 126 Wn. App. 760, 766, 109 P.3d 484 (2005).

Well recognized in Washington is the Consequential Conditions Doctrine. Any conditions that develop from the industrial injury are covered as part of the claim. *In re Arvid Anderson*, BIIA Dec., 65, 170 (1986) held that conditions resulting from the industrial injury are considered part and parcel of the industrial injury itself. Where a cardiac arrhythmia was caused by the stress of surgery as part of the claim, therefore the heart arrhythmia

was attributable to the industrial injury. *In re Iris Vandorn*, BIIA Dec., 02 11466 (2003) held that a new injury suffered when the worker was involved in an auto accident on the way back from a required appointment with a vocational counselor as part of the claim is covered. The new injury is related to the original injury, and is a compensable consequence of the original industrial injury.

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