ORIGINAL

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2019 JUL 20 PM 1:22
STATE OF WASHINGTON
JUL 20 2019

NO. 44508-5-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

CAROLYN GIGER (ROBERT E. GIGER, DEC'D),
Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,
Respondent.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON
Attorney General

KATY DIXON
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA No. 43469
Office Id. No. 91022
Labor and Industries Division
7141 Cleanwater Drive SW
PO Box 40121
Olympia, WA 98504-0121
(360) 586-7767

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

“Voluntary retirement” is a legal term of art in workers’ compensation law. In the workers’ compensation context, voluntary retirement does not simply refer to the decision of a worker to cease working for the employer of injury. Rather, as *Overdorff*, *Farr*, and *Hartje* explain, under the Industrial Insurance Act, a voluntarily retired worker is one who voluntarily detaches himself or herself from the work force and who ceases to engage in any form of employment related activity despite having the ability to work in some fashion at that time. See *Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. at 295; *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 765; *Hartje* 148 Wn. App. at 466.

Furthermore, Mr. Giger never attempted to return to work at any time on or after the date that his claim was closed, and therefore, he never terminated his status as a voluntarily retired worker. If a worker who voluntarily retires never attempts to return to work following his or her voluntary retirement, then the worker is ineligible for any further disability benefits as a matter of law, even if the worker’s condition subsequently worsens such that the claimant could not work even if he or she wished to do so. This is because, once a worker has removed himself or herself from the workforce, the worker has no wages to replace, and therefore, is ineligible for wage replacement benefits whether he or she has the capacity to work or not.

There are only three facts that are material to Mr. Giger's appeal, and none of them is disputed. First, the Department closed Mr. Giger's claim in 1990. In that order, which was upheld on appeal, the Department found that Mr. Giger was not permanently and totally disabled, and was thus capable of working. Second, Mr. Giger was not attached to the work force at a time when he was capable of working in 1990. Third, Mr. Giger made no attempt to return to the work force at any time on or after the date his claim was closed in 1990. Based on this undisputed evidence, a court could not, as a matter of law, reach any conclusion other than that Mr. Giger was voluntarily retired as of 1990.

Giger argues that Mr. Giger did not voluntarily retire because it was not "reasonable" for him to look for any further employment as of the date that his claim was closed. However, under the case law, the issue is whether the worker was *capable* of employment at the time that he or she ceased engaging in any form of employment-related activity, not whether it was *reasonable* for the worker to decide to withdraw from the work force.

Giger also argues, in effect, that Mr. Giger should not be held to have voluntarily retired because, at some point after his claim was closed, his condition worsened and he became unable to work. However, the case law establishes that a worker who voluntarily retires is not eligible for

further disability benefits *even if* the worker's condition subsequently worsens and the worker becomes incapable of employment.

As Giger fails to demonstrate that the Board, the Department, and the superior court erred when they decided that Mr. Giger voluntarily retired, the Department asks that this court affirm.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The first step in seeking review of the Department's decision to deny benefits is an appeal to the Board. RCW 51.52.060. As the appealing party, Giger bore the burden of proof to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the Department's order was incorrect. *See* RCW 51.52.050; *Guiles v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 13 Wn.2d 605, 610, 126 P.2d 195 (1942). One seeking benefits under the Industrial Insurance Act "must prove his claim by competent evidence." *Lightle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 68 Wn.2d 507, 510, 413 P.2d 814 (1966).

Decisions of the Board may be appealed to superior court. RCW 51.52.110. The superior court reviews the Board's decisions de novo, but without any evidence or testimony other than that included in the Board's record. RCW 51.52.115; *Grimes v. Lakeside Indus.*, 78 Wn. App. 554, 560, 897 P.2d 431 (1995). On review to the superior court, the Board's decision is prima facie correct and the burden of proof is on

the party challenging the decision. RCW 51.52.115; *McClelland v. ITT Rayonier, Inc.*, 65 Wn. App. 386, 390, 828 P.2d 1138 (1992).

The Court of Appeals reviews the superior court's decision in a workers' compensation case under the ordinary standard of civil review. RCW 51.52.140 ("Appeal shall lie from the judgment of the superior court as in other civil cases."); *McClelland*, 65 Wn. App. at 390. Issues of law are reviewed de novo. RCW 51.52.115; *Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 92 Wn. App. 348, 353, 962 P.2d 844 (1998). A reviewing court may substitute its judgment for that of the Department and the Board, but great weight should be afforded to those agencies' interpretation of the Industrial Insurance Act. *Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Allen*, 100 Wn. App. 526, 530, 997 P.2d 977 (2000); *Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Tri*, 117 Wn.2d 128, 138, 814 P.2d 629 (1991).

On review of a summary judgment order, the appellate court's inquiry is the same as the superior court's. *Romo*, 92 Wn. App. at 353. Summary judgment is appropriate when no genuine issue exists as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); *Romo*, 92 Wn. App. at 353-54. A motion for summary judgment should be granted only if, from all the evidence, reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion. *McClelland*, 65 Wn. App. at 390.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. **The Industrial Insurance Act Bars Workers Who Have Voluntarily Retired From Receiving Wage Replacement Benefits**

The superior court concluded that Mr. Giger was voluntarily retired at all times relevant to this appeal, and that he was, therefore, ineligible for further wage replacement benefits. CP at 61-64. Based on the undisputed facts in this case, this conclusion was correct under established case law. *See Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. at 295; *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 763-64; *Hartje*, 148 Wn. App. at 466. Because Mr. Giger's claim was closed with an award of permanent partial disability, which is an implicit finding that he was able to work, and because he was not working as of the date that his claim was closed and he never made an attempt to return to work, he was voluntarily retired under the terms of the Industrial Insurance Act.

1. **Overview Of Disability Benefit Statutes**

In order to put the issues raised by this appeal in the proper perspective, it is helpful to briefly review the forms of disability benefits that are available under the Industrial Insurance Act.

Temporary total disability benefits, also referred to as time-loss compensation, are wage replacement benefits provided to injured workers who are unable to work for a finite period of time due to the residuals of

an industrial injury. RCW 51.32.090; *Lightle*, 68 Wn.2d at 510. The purpose of time-loss compensation is to provide injured workers temporary financial support until they are able to rejoin the work force. *Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. at 296.

The Industrial Insurance Act contemplates that a worker who is temporarily totally disabled will either recover the capacity to work or reach a static, impaired condition. See *Franks v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 35 Wn.2d 763, 766, 215 P.2d 416 (1950). When a worker's condition becomes fixed, the worker's claim is closed either with an award of permanent total disability, or an award of permanent partial disability, or, if the worker has neither form of permanent impairment, with no award. See *Hubbard v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 140 Wn.2d 35, 37 n.1, 992 P.2d 1002 (2000).

Permanent *total* disability benefits, also known as pension benefits, are payable to workers who are determined to be permanently incapable of obtaining and performing reasonably continuous gainful employment as the result of an industrial injury. RCW 51.08.160; *Young v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 81 Wn. App. 123, 130-131, 913 P.2d 402 (1996). Permanent *partial* disability benefits are paid to workers who have suffered a permanent loss of function as a result of an injury, but who are nonetheless capable of engaging in some form of employment. See

Williams v. Virginia Mason Med. Ctr., 75 Wn. App. 582, 586-87, 880 P.2d 539 (1994).

Both temporary total disability benefits and permanent total disability benefits are wage replacement benefits. *See Williams*, 75 Wn. App. at 586-87; *See also Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. at 296. Permanent partial disability benefits, however, are not wage replacement benefits. *See Williams*, 75 Wn. App. at 586-87.

Both RCW 51.32.090, the statute governing temporary total disability benefits, and RCW 51.32.060, the statute governing permanent total disability benefits, expressly provide that a worker who voluntarily retires and withdraws from the work force is ineligible for those forms of benefits. *See also WAC 296-14-100*. However, those provisions were added to those statutes in 1986, and Mr. Giger's industrial injury occurred in 1985. Therefore, those statutory provisions are not directly applicable to his appeal. *Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. at 294; *see also Ashenbrenner v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 62 Wn.2d 22, 27, 380 P.2d 730 (1963) (observing that, in workers' compensation actions, the law in effect at the time of the injury applies).

Nevertheless, the courts have held that, even for claims arising from injuries prior to 1986, the Industrial Insurance Act bars workers who

have voluntarily retired from receiving wage replacement benefits.

Overdorff, 57 Wn. App. at 296-97; *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 763.

2. **Under *Farr*, *Overdorff*, And *Hartje*, A Worker Who Withdraws From The Work Force And Who Makes No Attempt To Find Employment Voluntarily Retires And Becomes Ineligible For Further Wage Replacement Benefits**

Under *Farr*, *Overdorff*, and *Hartje*, a worker who voluntarily retires is ineligible for further wage replacement benefits. *See Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. at 296-97; *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 763; *Hartje*, 148 Wn. App. at 466. Because Mr. Giger's case is indistinguishable from those cases, Giger may not receive the relief she seeks in this appeal.

In *Overdorff*, the claimant suffered a hernia as a result of an industrial injury. *Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. at 292. The industrial injury occurred on February 2, 1983, but Overdorff continued to work until he quit his position with his employer of injury on February 28, 1983, taking advantage of an early retirement program offered by his employer. *Id.* at 292 n.1. After that date, Overdorff made no further attempts at working, despite being capable of doing so. *Id.* at 296. He received treatment for the injury until 1986, when the Department closed his claim. *Id.* at 292. Overdorff protested the closing order, contending that his condition had worsened at some point after he retired and that he had become unable to work. *Id.* The court concluded that the worker had voluntarily retired

when he removed himself from the work force on February 28, 1983, and that he was, therefore, ineligible for further wage replacement benefits. *Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. at 295.

In *Farr*, the claimant was working as a tree faller for Weyerhaeuser when he suffered an industrial injury in 1976. *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 760. *Farr*'s claim closed in October of 1978 with a permanent partial disability award. *Id.* at 761. *Farr* took an early retirement and stopped working for Weyerhaeuser in 1980, allegedly at the recommendation of his supervisor. *See id.* *Farr* neither worked nor looked for work at any time after his claim was closed. *Id.* at 766.

In 1985, *Farr* filed an aggravation application. *Id.* at 761. The Department reopened his claim and then later closed his claim with an additional award for permanent partial disability. *Id.* *Farr* appealed the Department order, arguing that he was entitled to pension benefits because he had become permanently totally disabled as a result of an aggravation of his condition following claim closure. *Id.* The *Farr* court held that, under *Overdorff*, the worker had voluntarily retired as a matter of law, and that he was, therefore, ineligible for further wage replacement benefits, even assuming he had become unable to work as of the time that his claim was reopened. *Id.* at 765.

Farr argued that his injury played a role in his decision to retire, and that, therefore, it could not be said that he had voluntarily retired. *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 765. However, the *Farr* court rejected this argument, reasoning that the relevant issue is not whether Farr's injury played a role in his decision to stop working for Weyerhaeuser, but whether his injury caused him to remove himself from the general work force, and to cease engaging in any form of employment-related activity. *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 765-66. Furthermore, the court ruled that since Farr's claim had been closed with a final order that granted him an award of permanent *partial* disability, it was res judicata that his disability at the time his claim was closed was only partial, not total. *Id.* at 766. Therefore, res judicata established that Farr was capable of at least some form of gainful employment as of the date that his claim was closed. *Id.* Since it was undisputed that Farr had not made any attempt to find any work of any kind at any time after his claim was closed, the inescapable conclusion was that he had voluntarily retired and that he was, therefore, ineligible for either time-loss compensation or pension benefits. *See id.*

The *Overdorff* and *Farr* decisions establish that a worker is voluntarily retired if (1) the worker stopped working at a point in time when he or she was capable of working and (2) the worker made no effort to find employment at any time after he or she withdrew from the work

force. *See Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. 295-96; *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 763-67. The fact that a worker was capable of employment at the time that the worker withdrew from the labor market can be established either through evidence that the claimant was able to work at the time of withdrawal from the labor market, or it can be established under the doctrine of res judicata if the worker's claim was closed with an award of permanent partial disability and that decision has become final and legally binding. *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 765-66.

In *Hartje*, the Court of Appeals adhered to the rule in *Overdorff* and *Farr*, holding that the worker's voluntary retirement before the reopening of her claim precluded her from being entitled to any further time-loss compensation as a matter of law. *Hartje*, 148 Wn. App. at 466-68. The case involved application of RCW 51.32.090(8), which precludes time-loss benefits to voluntarily retired workers who are no longer attached to the force. *See id.* at 466.² In *Hartje*, the worker suffered a back injury. *Id.* at 459. The Department closed *Hartje's* claim in June 1997, with an award for permanent partial disability. *Id.* *Hartje* appealed this decision, but the Board affirmed it, expressly finding that the worker was able to work as of June 1997, and that she was not entitled to

² As noted above, this statute does not apply here. However, the reasoning in *Hartje* applies as it was applying general principles of voluntary retirement and res judicata, and relied upon *Overdorff* and *Farr*. *See Hartje*, 148 Wn. App at 466-68.

temporary and total disability benefits for a period from October 2, 1996, through June 24, 1997. *Hartje*, 148 Wn. App. at 459.

Hartje applied to reopen her claim in 1999, and this was granted. *Id.* at 460. The Department directed the self-insured employer to pay Hartje time-loss compensation from 1999 through 2004. *Id.* The employer appealed that decision, and the case ultimately reached the Court of Appeals.

The employer made several arguments to the Court of Appeals in support of its contention that Hartje was ineligible for time-loss compensation, all of which relied, at least in part, on the fact that the Board had affirmed the Department's decision to close Hartje's claim with a permanent partial disability award. *Id.* at 463-69. First, the employer argued that since the Board had ruled that Hartje was not entitled to any further time-loss compensation as of the date that her claim was closed, then the doctrines of res judicata, issue preclusion, and the "law of the case" doctrine each precluded Hartje from receiving any further time-loss compensation as of the date her claim was reopened. *Id.* at 463-66. The court rejected each of these arguments, noting that the fact that the Board affirmed the Department's 1997 closing order merely established that Hartje could work *as of 1997*, but it had no res judicata effect as to

whether Hartje was capable of employment as of 1999 or thereafter.

Hartje, 148 Wn. App. at 463-66.

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